# THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA NO. 23-ICA-220

ICA EFiled: Sep 01 2023

**Transaction ID 70773340** 

02:02PM EDT

THE CALWELL PRACTICE, PLLC and CALWELL LUCE DITRAPANO, PLLC Defendants Below, Petitioners

VS.

(Circuit Cout of Putnam County Civil Action No. 04-C-465)

JAMES F. HUMPHREYS & ASSOCIATES, L.C., Plaintiff Below, Respondent

#### **PETITIONERS' BRIEF**

# THE CALWELL PRACTICE PLLC, and CALWELL LUCE DITRAPANO PLLC,

#### By counsel,

#### /s/ R. Booth Goodwin II

R. Booth Goodwin II (WVSB #7165)
Benjamin B. Ware (WVSB # 10008)
Stephanie H. Daly (WVSB # 8835)
GOODWIN & GOODWIN, LLP
300 Summers Street, Suite 1500
Charleston, WV 25301
P: (304) 346-7000

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 16
ARGUMENT
I. The Circuit Court of Putnam County erred when it refused to hold that the August 15, 2014 Order in the underlying case operates to bar Respondent Humphreys from receiving 12.5% of the 2017 attorney's fee at issue in this case
II. The Circuit Court erred when it refused to hold that Humphreys was judicially estopped from sharing in the 2017 Fee because Humphreys never disclosed any aspect of such fee during its bankruptcy proceedings
CONCLUSION

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases

Casto v. Am. Union Boiler Co. of W. Va., No. 2:05-cv-00757, 2006 WL 660458 (S.D. W. Va 14, 2006)	
Dennis v. Jackson, 258 A.3d 860 (D.C. 2021)	
Edward S. v. Raleigh Cnty Housing Auth., 248 W. Va. 458, 889 S.E.2d 31 (2023)	
Folio v. City of Clarksburg, 134 F.3d 1211 (4th Cir. 1998)	
Guay v. Burack, 677 F.3d 10 (1st Cir. 2012)	
Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 270 F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 2001)	
In re Coastal Plains, Inc., 197 F.3d 197 (5th Cir. 1999)	
Lyudmila Rybakova v. Yefimova (In re Yefimova), Nos. 09-20049PM & 08-0819PM, 2012 WI 2087081 (Bankr. D. Md. June 8, 2012)	
	Vaccaro v. Monte Nido Roxbury Mills, No. SAG-21-1840, 2022 WL 19775 (D. Md. Jan. 3, 2022)
	Rules
	W. Va. R. Prof. Conduct 1.5

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The Circuit Court of Putnam County erred when it refused to hold that the August 15, 2014 Order (the "2014 Order") in the underlying case bars Respondent Humphreys from receiving 12.5% of the 2017 attorney's fee at issue here. The 2014 Order was entered by the Circuit Court after Humphreys—not Petitioner CLD—attacked in Court the Fee Sharing Agreement between Humphreys and CLD. At Humphreys' request, the 2014 Order supplanted the fee agreement and expressly defined the parameters of future fee sharing between the parties. The Order specifically conditioned Humphreys' right to share in future contingent fees upon the occurrence of a precisely defined "triggering event." Such "triggering event" undisputedly never occurred. To the contrary, the fee at issue was generated by new claims pursued by CLD alone. Humphreys' right to share in future fees thus never materialized, and the Circuit Court erred in finding otherwise.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred when it refused to hold that Humphreys was judicially estopped from sharing in the 2017 fee. Humphreys went through bankruptcy proceedings in 2016. During its bankruptcy, Humphreys never disclosed to its creditors the contingent fee that it now claims. Case law is abundantly clear that debtors are judicially estopped from pursuing claims that they did not disclose in bankruptcy. This rule protects creditors and prevents debtors from taking unfair advantage of bankruptcy protections. It bars debtors from benefitting from fraud upon their creditors. The Circuit Court erred by not estopping Humphreys under this rule. The Circuit Court in fact erred deeply by refusing to even directly consider this issue. The Circuit Court conceded such refusal in its May 2, 2023 Order (from which this appeal arises), stating that: "Even if the disclosures were wanting of more detail, the Court declines to step into the shoes of the bankruptcy court and second guess the sufficiency of that disclosure." Respondent should be judicially estopped from sharing in the 2017 fee at issue, and the Circuit Court erred in finding otherwise.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal involves an attorney's fee awarded in 2017 ("2017 Fee") by the Circuit Court of Putnam County to Petitioners The Calwell Practice, PLLC and Calwell Luce DiTrapano, PLLC (collectively, Petitioner "CLD"). Respondent law firm James F. Humphreys & Associates, L.C. ("Humphreys") claims it is entitled to a share of the 2017 Fee. Petitioner CLD disputes that claim. Below, the Circuit Court of Putnam County sided with Humphreys and awarded it summary judgment. CLD contends such award to be clearly erroneous.

The origins of the dispute date back to 2004. At that time, CLD and Humphreys served as co-counsel in mass litigation against Monsanto Company seeking damages for toxic environmental exposure caused by Monsanto's plant in Nitro, West Virginia (the "Monsanto Litigation"). CLD-Appx-000001. CLD and Humphreys originally agreed to share costs and fees equally in the Monsanto Litigation. *Id.* at 2.

In 2012, however, CLD and Humphreys mutually agreed to terminate Humphreys' involvement as counsel in the Monsanto Litigation and modify his entitlement to attorney's fees in the case. *Id.* They entered into a written Fee Sharing Agreement (the "Agreement") to effectuate that termination. *Id.* The Agreement states, in relevant part:

In addition to the Expenditure Reimbursement Amount described herein, solely in the event of a settlement or a favorable verdict, JH shall further be entitled to receive a negotiated share of Attorney's fees ("Attorney's fees") of 12.5% of Attorney's fees calculated as a percentage of any settlement or verdict up to \$110,000,000.00. By way of example, if the case is awarded a judgment or is settled for \$110,000,000.00 or less, JH shall be entitled to receive an amount equal to 12.5% of any attorney's fees awarded.

See CLD-Appx-000124. The Agreement does not define the scope of the litigation or the types of claims, parties, or disputes in which Humphreys is permitted to share. It is silent on those issues. It does not say or suggest, for example, that Humphreys would ever be permitted to share in a settlement occasioned by new claims by CLD against third parties. Because of its silence on these

points, it is naturally limited to the existing claims pending against Monsanto at the time that the

Agreement was formed.

The Monsanto Litigation settled. CLD-Appx-000002. Humphreys, however, was not

satisfied with the Agreement after the case settled. In stark contrast to its current position,

Humphreys refused to rely on the Agreement with CLD. Humphreys wanted the Circuit Court to

award higher fees than it thought it would get from the Agreement alone. Humphreys filed liens

on personal injury cases in Monsanto and was actually seeking fifty percent (50%) of those fees

in plain violation and repudiation of the most basic terms of the Agreement. CLD-Appx-000285-

86. Humphreys hired its own attorney, Timothy N. Barber, who filed an additional lien for fees in

the Monsanto Litigation on June 23, 2014. CLD-Appx-000367. Mr. Barber then represented

Humphreys at a June 26, 2014 status conference addressing pending issues regarding the

settlement. See CLD-Appx-000270.

At that hearing, Mr. Barber openly agreed, on the record—and on behalf of his client,

Humphreys—to replace Humphreys' liens and fee entitlements and existing disputes under the

Agreement with a single Court order signed by Judge Swope:

**The Court:** ... Mr. Barber, I understand you filed all of these liens, correct?

Mr. Barber: That's correct.

**The Court:** I thought we had—wasn't that worked out, gentlemen?

Mr. Barber: Well, you thought wrong if you thought we had it all worked out,

because we didn't.

**The Court:** Sir, you do not talk to me like that.

Mr. Barber: I'm not.

**The Court:** Sir, you do not talk to me like that in this courtroom. I don't have lawyers get up and say, "You thought wrong." All right? Do you understand that?

We're going to get this straight from the git-go.

3

Mr. Barber: All right.

**The Court:** All right. Do you understand that?

Mr. Barber: I do.

**The Court:** Now, did you not have this worked out, gentlemen?

Mr. Barber: No.

**The Court:** I'm asking these guys.

Mr. Barber: Oh, I'm sorry.

Mr. Love: Yes, Your Honor. In terms of the attorneys' fees and costs, that lien was

satisfied and has been released, as I understand.

**The Court:** So why is he saying this then?

Mr. Love: Because I believe he's filed additional liens since then.

**The Court:** On what? On the personal injury cases, right?

Mr. Barber: Yes.

**The Court:** Do you have any liens on the class?

Mr. Barber: Yes.

**The Court:** On the 6.5 million?

Mr. Barber: No.

**The Court:** What else?

**Mr. Barber:** Yes, to the 6.5 million, that's the trigger.

**The Court:** What else?

**Mr. Barber:** The payments on the remediation and the medical monitoring.

**The Court:** That's not been worked out?

Mr. Barber: No, sir.

**The Court:** All right, I'll tell you what we're going to do, we're going to—... I'm going to take about a five minute break and let Mr. Barber Mr. Calwell, and Mr. Love step out and try to tell me what the hell is still left here to be settled as far as liens.

. . . .

**The Court:** Okay. Now, the next thing. What's the story on this lien? It's like being pregnant. Either you are or you're not. Either it's settled or it's not. What's the story?

Mr. Calwell: All right. I'll give you the shortest version that I can. When Mr. Humphreys basically backed out of the case, we entered into a dissolution agreement that provided that Mr. Humphreys would be reimbursed whatever hard cash he had put in the case. And he was, in fact, reimbursed that amount of money. Should it have developed, as it did, that there would be a settlement where fees would be approved, Mr. Humphreys, by written agreement with my firm and his firm, was to receive 12.5 percent of any fees that were realized. I understand—

**The Court:** Mr. Calwell, I don't want to interrupt you.

Mr. Calwell: And so—

**The Court:** Is that—are we done or not?

Mr. Calwell: As far as I'm concerned, I don't know why Mr. Barber filed a lien for, you know, 12.5 percent. We've already agreed to pay it if the contingency ever comes about. So there is no dispute on our part, but I can't—

**The Court:** Well, let me ask Mr. Barber. Mr. Barber, is Humphreys' claim satisfied, whatever he was owed out of the property settlement, yes or no? Mr. Barber?

**Mr. Barber:** I'm sorry, Judge, I don't know if I misunderstood you. You said the "property settlement."

**The Court:** I'm asking—I'm going one at a time.

Mr. Barber: Oh, I'm sorry.

**The Court:** Is Mr. Humphreys' attorney's lien settled as to the property settlement, the clean up?

**Mr. Barber:** No. I mean, what Mr. Calwell had just said is accurate. There was an agreement that Mr. Humphreys get 12-and-a-half percent. Because you—have been your very well-done order say that there is an incentive for him—and not only the property, but the medical monitoring—to do something, \$200, \$500.

**The Court:** All right. You're talking about the kickers?

Mr. Barber: That's correct.

**The Court:** Let me tell you what I see here. . . . I've put kickers in there for a couple of reasons. You know, Mr. Calwell, I think you'll have every incentive when people call you up and say, "We can't get—well, we can't—they're fighting over me cleaning up." You've got an incentive to get people to sign up, which will solve the public policy, and you're cleaning up as much of Nitro as possible. I understand that your client may get something of a kicker, correct?

Mr. Barber: All he—

**The Court:** Do you agree with that, Mr. Calwell?

Mr. Calwell: Yes. We've agreed to pay him any money that we're able to get.

**The Court:** So if you signed up 4500 people—and I forget what your kicker was—whatever your kicker was.

**Mr. Calwell:** I think it's 12 and a half of that.

The Court: All right. You're going to give him that, right?

Mr. Calwell: Yes.

**The Court:** You're done with that, right, Mr. Barber?

**Mr. Barber:** That's why I filed the lien.

The Court: Okay. All right. Well, see, I thought it was done ahead of time. So that's why I'm trying to put this to bed right now so you're not fighting over this anymore. All right. Now, we've got the medical monitoring. . . . But 4,000-some-odd people here that could be—that can have this monitoring. And I want every damn one of them to have it, because I want to see if they have any problem. And I hope they don't. And if they do have problems, then there's a kicker in place to monitor them down the road. And then if that kicker comes in and we get that number, then, Mr. Calwell, there will be more fees paid out of that, too. So, Mr. Barber, as to the medical monitoring absent the kicker, right, absent the little incentive that Mr. Calwell gets for making sure that he gets as many people to sign up as possible, you have an agreement with him, right?

Mr. Barber: Yes, Your Honor. Like the property, it's memorialized in the lien. That's all it is. The lien just simply memorializes it.

The Court: All I want to do is replace the lien with an order. I want to replace the lien with an order. I know about liens in cases, sir. . . . <u>I want an order memorializing what y'all are going to do.</u>

Mr. Calwell: That's fine with us, your honor.

The Court: What's wrong with that, Mr. Barber? Why can't we do an order?

Mr. Barber: There's nothing wrong with it, Judge. I just haven't heard that that. All I was doing—if you'll just listen to me one minute, Judge, please.

The Court: Sure.

Mr. Barber: All I was doing here is—Mr. Calwell has accurately stated that we have 12-and-a-half percent coming. All I did as a lawyer representing my client to memorialize that in a lien. That's so if Mr. Calwell drops dead or I do or somebody, that something is down there in writing in a court proceeding that everyone knows about. Now, that's why I filed the thing. If the Court wants to replace that with a direct order that we get 12-and-a-half percent for both the property and the medical monitoring, great. That's fine. It's a court order. It would have the same effect certainly as a lien, and I have no problem with that at all. And you say the "trigger"—

**The Court:** The trigger is out there.

Mr. Barber: That's the trigger thing.

The Court: That's that when so many people—when you have to have a hundred people, right—at least a hundred people had to be tested . . . and then when that comes in, the trigger kicks . . . and that's when extra money gets paid in. . . . And then if it happens quick, then you're entitled to that. And then, sir, I mean, I think what you need to do, and I'm going to require this, is just memorialize this with an order.

Mr. Barber: That's fine, Judge. We just have to carefully craft the terminology.

The Court: But you would rather have my signature on it, wouldn't you, right? I mean, I'll sign it. You just draft what you want between y'all.

Mr. Barber: We'll see what we can do.

**The Court:** All right.

Mr. Barber: We haven't been very successful yet, but I think we probably can.

The Court: I think we did say with the exception, didn't we? Mr. Humphreys is going to 12-and-a-half percent of whatever gets paid from any of this. And if the contingency kicks in, he's going to 12-and-a-half percent of that. Has he been reimbursed his costs?

**Mr. Calwell:** He has, Your Honor.

Mr. Barber: He has.

The Court: Well, then just whip me up an order that says that.

. . . .

The Court: ... So now, Mr. Barber, with that, can y'all, you two, whip up an order that will take care of all of these things? And that order will take care of whatever comes out of the class, right?

See CLD-Appx-000272-84 (bold emphasis and underlining added).

These excerpts show that Humphreys openly agreed for the Circuit Court to enter an order memorializing his exact fee entitlements. Humphreys clearly did not trust the original Agreement or think it was sufficient. In fact, in this same hearing, Humphreys' attorney demanded 50% of the fees from the individual personal injury cases—openly rejecting the Agreement's most basic term, that Humphreys would receive only 12.5%. CLD-Appx-000285-86.

Following this hearing, Humphreys (through Mr. Barber) submitted a proposed order to the Circuit Court on August 11, 2014. CLD-Appx-000287-93. The proposed order is noteworthy in that it was extremely overbroad—exactly like Humphreys' current overbroad claim in this fee dispute—and was rejected by the Circuit Court. Humphreys' proposed order unsuccessfully asked the Circuit Court to hold as follows:

On June 26, 2014, ... counsel appeared for the respective parties for a hearing on certain pending matters ... [t]he matters presented and the rulings there on are:

1. The issue of the attorney's fee lien filed by Barber in (sic) behalf of Humphreys was addressed. The effected (sic) parties agreed that Humphreys will receive 12.5% of any sums obtained by Calwell **from any aspect of this class action** including the property remediation remedy and the medical monitoring process. Further that upon the memorialization of that exchange between Calwell and

Humphreys by the entry of this order, Humphreys will dismiss and withdraw his filed lien. Therefore, it is hereby ORDERED that 12.5% of any sums from any source of this class action received by Calwell as a fee will be promptly forwarded to Humphreys.

#### *Id.* (bold emphasis added).

The Circuit Court rejected Humphreys' invitation to issue such an overbroad ruling. Instead of adopting Humphreys' wide-open language, the Circuit Court entered an Order in 2014 that expressly defined and limited the scope of Humphreys' potential fee recovery. The 2014 Order (which is dispositive of the instant fee dispute) states, in relevant part:

The Court FINDS and ORDERS that Mr. Calwell and Mr. Humphreys have agreed that Mr. Humphreys shall receive twelve (12) and a half percent from the attorneys' fees Mr. Calwell receives as Class Counsel in both the property and medical monitoring class settlements. The Court further ORDERS that Mr. Humphreys receive twelve (12) and half percent of any incentive payments Mr. Calwell receives for the number of Class Members who register for medical monitoring or property clean-up benefits. Once a level of five hundred (500) participants are registered, the Court will release the incentive fee payments to Mr. Calwell in the amounts of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) for each medical monitoring participants and Two Hundred Dollars (\$200) for each property remediation participants. These fees will be released at each interval of 500 persons registered and at the end of the Registration Period. Finally, the Court ORDERS that Mr. Humphreys receive twelve (12) and a half percent of any attorneys' fee payments that Mr. Calwell receives based upon the occurrence of the triggering event. Mr. Calwell must also reimburse Mr. Humphreys for his costs.

CLD-Appx-000015-16 (bold emphasis added). This 2014 Order only arose because Humphreys repudiated the Agreement, asked the Circuit Court for more money, and asked the Circuit Court to enter an order memorializing its fee rights. The 2014 Order is the law of this case. Humphreys is bound by its statements on the record, and by this ruling—which it never appealed.

It is undisputed that Humphreys received his full share of all fees generated by the property settlements, medical monitoring, and incentive payments—namely, all fees specified in the 2014 Order that Humphreys wanted. CLD-Appx-000002-03. Specifically, Humphreys received 12.5% of all incentive payments for property clean-up and medical monitoring, and 12.5% of the fees

from the personal injury cases in Monsanto. The terms of the 2014 Order were fully satisfied with regard to Humphreys. The only possible remaining fee that could be owed to Humphreys was "twelve (12) and a half percent of any attorneys' fee payments that Mr. Calwell receives based upon the occurrence of the triggering event." CLD-Appx-000016. If the "trigger" had been met, Humphreys would have received 12.5% of that award as well, as required by the 2014 Order. It is undisputed, however, that the "triggering event" never occurred. CLD-Appx-000003. All obligations to Humphreys, as defined by the 2014 Order that Humphreys wanted the Court to enter, have thus been satisfied in full and he is entitled to nothing more.

The 2017 fee at issue here was not generated by the "triggering event," which undisputedly did not occur. To the contrary, it was generated by immense time, effort, and cost expended by CLD alone—with zero contributions by Humphreys—from 2014 to 2017 to diligently investigate facts and circumstances separate from the medical monitoring tasks contemplated by the 2014 Order. CLD identified and pursued potential claims against third parties, including Thomas Health System, Inc., who were uninvolved in the underlying Monsanto litigation. CLD alone sought these new and additional avenues of recovery for its clients. The new investigations by CLD required the hiring of expert witnesses and developing new possible theories of liability against Thomas Health System, Inc., a third party laboratory, and a third party shipping company. These claims

\_\_\_

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