IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-220

ICA EFiled: Nov 02 2023 04:19PM EDT Transaction ID 71304183

THE CALWELL PRACTICE, LC and CALWELL LUCE DITRAPANO, PLLC

Defendants below, Petitioners,

v.

Cir. Ct. Putnam Cnty. Civil Action No. 04-C-465 (Hon. Joseph K. Reeder)

JAMES F. HUMPHREYS & ASSOCIATES, L.C.

Plaintiff below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB #11705)
Michael B. Hissam (WVSB #11526)
Andrew C. Robey (WVSB #12806)
HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC
P.O. Box 3983
Charleston, WV 25339
681-265-3802 office
304-982-8056 fax
zritchie@hfdrlaw.com
mhissam@hfdrlaw.com
arobey@hfdrlaw.com

Counsel for Respondent

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

2014 Order *itself* affirms Humphreys' right to share in all attorney's fees awarded in the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation. Arguing otherwise, Calwell focuses on a single sentence from the 2014 Order:

agreed that Mr. Humphreys shall receive twelve (12) and a half percent from the attorneys' fees Mr. Calwell receives as Class Counsel in both the property and medical monitoring class settlements. The Court further ORDERS that Mr. Humphreys receive twelve (12) and half percent of any incentive payments Mr. Calwell receives for the number of Class Members who register for medical monitoring or property clean-up benefits. Once a level of five hundred (500) participants are registered, the Court will release the incentive fee payments to Mr. Calwell in the amounts of Five Hundred Dollars (\$500) for each medical monitoring participants and Two Hundred Dollars (\$200) for each property remediation participants. These fees will be released at each interval of 500 persons registered and at the end of the Registration Period. Finally, the Court ORDERS that Mr. Humphreys receive twelve (12) and a half percent of any attorneys' fee payments that Mr. Calwell receives based upon the occurrence of the triggering event. Mr. Calwell must also reimburse Mr. Humphreys for his costs.

Appx. 15–16 (highlights added).

Referring to the red-highlighted text, Calwell suggests that Humphreys may only share in attorney's fees arising from the "triggering event." But Calwell wholly ignores the green-highlighted text, which prefaces the illustrative points that follow. As evidenced by the green-highlighted text, the operative command of Judge Swope's order was that Humphreys share in *all* attorney's fees deriving from the property and medical monitoring class settlements (i.e., the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation). The red-highlighted text is merely illustrative—not exhaustive—of the circumstances in which Humphreys may share in future fee awards. Reading the red-highlighted text in isolation, as Calwell urges, would do two things: first, it

would render the green-highlighted text wholly gratuitous and, second, it would create new qualifications not found in the Fee Sharing Agreement. Such an interpretation would also be contrary to the stated purpose of the 2014 Order and its context, which was to *memorialize* the Fee Sharing Agreement.

It also bears emphasis that Calwell's argument necessarily turns on the intended purpose of the 2014 Order.⁷ Calwell claims to have divined the 2014 Order's true purpose, yet Calwell's interpretation apparently cannot bear scrutiny from the author of that order. Though Calwell originally insisted that this case be transferred to Judge Swope—after all, he wrote the order—Calwell moved to disqualify him before he could reach the merits of this case. That Calwell sought to disqualify Judge Swope for "prejudging" Calwell's defense—a defense that required him to interpret his own order—pretty much says it all.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly concluded that, even if the 2014 Order is the operative instrument, it "plainly provides Humphreys an unqualified right to share in all fee awards in the Monsanto Litigation." Appx. 6. This Court should reach the same conclusion and affirm.

C. The disputed fees were awarded in the Monsanto Litigation and therefore subject to the Fee Sharing Agreement.

Assuming this Court declines Calwell's invitation to ignore the Fee Sharing Agreement, then Calwell argues that the disputed fees nonetheless derive from

⁷ There, of course, remains the question of whether Judge Swope even possessed the legal authority to rewrite or replace the parties' prior written agreement under these circumstances. Calwell advances no reasons to support the legitimacy of such an action.

separate claims outside the scope of that agreement. Judge Reeder correctly rejected this argument as well, reflecting on the obvious origin of the disputed fees.

First, the order awarding the disputed fees bears the "Bibb v. Monsanto" case heading. Appx. 422. Second, the disputed fees were paid pursuant to the Modified Medical Monitoring Class Settlement Agreement, which, together with the original settlement agreement, were created and approved in the context of the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation. Appx. 126-50, 151-86, 424-31. Third, the disputed fees were paid from the Contingent Attorney's Fees Fund, which, likewise, was created and approved in the context of the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation. Appx. 425. Fourth, the Contingent Attorney's Fees Fund was funded exclusively by the Monsanto Company, nobody else. Appx. 184, 188. Fifth, the disputed fees were awarded in consideration of benefits granted to the original members of the "Bibb v. Monsanto" medical monitoring class. Appx. 126-50, 424-31. Sixth and finally, these were the same benefits originally contemplated by the original Medical Monitoring Class Settlement Agreement in the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation. Appx. 136-37, 424-31.

Taken together, there is no genuine dispute that the fees were awarded in the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation and therefore subject to the Fee Sharing Agreement. That Calwell was able to negotiate the removal of the triggering event for a lesser fee does not remove that lesser fee award from the scope of the Fee sharing Agreement.

To confuse the genesis of the disputed fees, Calwell offers *The Affidavit of Thomas J. Hurney, Jr.* But the affidavit adds nothing of actual substance. The

affidavit explains in unnecessary detail that Thomas Health received a subpoena concerning the screening protocol. Appx. 262-65. The affidavit then explains in unnecessary detail Thomas Health's efforts to quash that subpoena. See id. But at no point does the affidavit actually provide support of the proposition that the disputed fees were a product of some new case and controversy. Quite the opposite. As a factual matter, the affidavit actually confirms (i) that no separate claims were brought against Thomas Health; (ii) that the disputed fees resulted from negotiations between Calwell and the Monsanto Company; and (iii) that Thomas Health did not contribute to Contingent Attorney's Fees Fund from which the disputed fees were paid. See id. Calwell does not otherwise explain the import of the Affidavits of Thomas V. Flaherty and Scott Partridge, both touching on issues wholly extraneous to the actual issue: whether the disputed fees derived from the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation.

Lacking legal justification for its failure to pay, Calwell then suggests that it should be absolved of his contractual duties as a matter of generic fairness. In particular, Calwell complains that Humphreys did not contribute time or money towards Calwell's most-recent effort to modify the Medical Monitoring Class Settlement Agreement, which resulted in the disputed \$3 million fee award. But Humphreys' extrication from the Monsanto Litigation was the impetus for the Fee Sharing Agreement. Calwell cannot negotiate Humphreys' exit from the case—in which Humphreys invested considerable time and money—only to suggest that his failure to participate in some subsequent effort is grounds to avoid the parties'

agreement. Calwell's "fairness" defense is supported by neither law nor fact. It is perfectly fair to be held to the bargain made. That's called the rule of law.

Accordingly, Judge Reeder correctly concluded that the disputed fees were a product of the "Bibb v. Monsanto" litigation and therefore subject to the Fee Sharing Agreement. This Court should reach the same conclusion.

II. The Circuit Court correctly rejected Calwell's judicial estoppel defense.

If all else fails, Calwell argues that Humphreys is judicially estopped from asserting a breach of contract claim based on the (incorrect) assertion that Humphreys supposedly failed to disclose the Fee Sharing Agreement in its 2016 federal bankruptcy proceeding. But, as noted by Judge Reeder, Calwell's defense fails for two independently sufficient reasons.

A. Humphreys disclosed the Fee Sharing Agreement in federal bankruptcy court.

As a threshold matter, the Circuit Court observed that Calwell's defense is based on a mistaken factual premise: that Humphreys somehow failed to disclose the Fee Sharing Agreement in bankruptcy. Appx. 6. The trial court's conclusion—that Humphreys did indeed make the requisite disclosure—was based on several

18

⁸ In its conclusion section, Calwell halfheartedly suggests that West Virginia Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5—which proscribes the charging or collecting of unreasonable fees—absolves him of his contractual obligations. Calwell's argument has been expressly rejected by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. See Syl. Pt. 1, Watson v. Pietranton, 178 W. Va. 799, 364 S.E.2d 812 (1987) (providing that a lawyer or law firm which enters into and honors a fee-splitting agreement with another lawyer may not later raise the Rules of Professional Conduct as a bar to enforcement of the agreement."). Nonetheless, Rule 1.5 is meant to protect the unwary client—not the recalcitrant competing law firm.

pieces of documentary evidence and cannot be genuinely disputed. First, Humphreys produced its Schedule of Assets and Liabilities and Statement of Financial Affairs, which clearly disclosed "referral/joint representation agreements" as one of the various classes of assets available for administration. Appx. 222. Calwell has not pointed to anywhere in the bankruptcy record where the creditors, the trustee, or the court required a specific itemization of that category of agreements or any other category of agreements. Second, Humphreys produced a Monthly Operating Report and bank statement, which were filed with the bankruptcy court, confirming that proceeds from the Fee Sharing Agreement were deposited into a trustee-supervised bank account. Appx. 232-44. And third, Humphreys produced his bankruptcy counsel's communications with Calwell, directing payment into the trustee-supervised bank accounts, rather than to James Humphreys personally. Appx. 226-29. Taken together, there is no genuine dispute that the Fee Sharing Agreement was disclosed to and administered by the federal bankruptcy court.

On the other side of the ledger, the only "evidence" Calwell produced below was a single-page excerpt from Humphreys' global notes and general disclaimers. Appx. 43. Calwell did not explain the import, if any, of that one-page excerpt. Nor could it. The single page of global notes and general disclaimers has zero bearing on whether Humphreys discharged his reporting duty elsewhere. And though Calwell appears to abandon this specific example on appeal, Calwell continues to cite

irrelevant disclosure sections and then feign indignation when the relevant disclosure cannot be found.

For example, pointing to the "accounts receivable" section of Humphreys' disclosures, Calwell criticizes Humphreys for disclosing receivables from asbestos settlements but not from the Monsanto Litigation. Pet. Br. 23-24. But the concept of a "receivable" appears to evade Calwell. As the term indicates, a receivable refers to amounts then due and owing. The final fee award did not actually become due (and was thus not owed) until September 2017 when the medical monitoring settlement agreement was modified. Appx. 424. The disclosure statement (Feb. 2016) and plan confirmation (Feb. 2017) predate that event by months, meaning at no point during the bankruptcy was the final fee award an "account receivable." All that to say, it's no surprise that the Fee Sharing Agreement was not referenced in the "accounts receivable" section.

In the end, the the Circuit Court correctly concluded that Humphreys did indeed disclose the Fee Sharing Agreement such that Calwell presented no material facts supporting the defense of judicial estoppel. Even then, any uncertainty on this point breaks against Calwell because it failed to present sufficient evidence to invoke the defense in the face of Humphreys' motion for summary judgment, as was Calwell's burden. See Hetzel v. Pac. Mut. Life Ins. Co. of Cal., 108 W. Va. 22, 150 S.E. 385, 387 (1929) (providing that defendants bear the burden of proving affirmative defenses).

B. Judicial estoppel nevertheless requires proof of intent to deceive, an element for which Calwell failed to present any evidence.

Like the Circuit Court, this Court need not second guess the sufficiency of Humphreys' federal bankruptcy court disclosure because Calwell's judicial estoppel defense fails for yet another, independent reason: Calwell failed to prove intentional deceit, which even Calwell recognizes is a required element of judicial estoppel. Pet. Br. 27. Far from suggesting intentional deceit, Judge Reeder found that the evidence actually suggests "the opposite." Appx. 7. Again, the trial court's reasoning was grounded in documentary evidence. The disclosure statement clearly identified referral/joint representation agreements as a class of assets available for administration; the communications between bankruptcy counsel demonstrated open discussion of the Fee Sharing Agreement, Appx. 222; the bank statement demonstrated that the resulting proceeds were administered by the bankruptcy court for the benefit of creditors, Appx. 240; and the Monthly Operating Report reaffirms all these points, Appx. 232-44. This evidence is hardly suggestive of some nefarious plan to conceal the Fee Sharing Agreement and any future payments thereunder.

Acknowledging that there is no evidence of intentional deceit, Calwell instead endeavors to prove motive, which can serve as a proxy for intent. But Calwell fares no better on this front. Calwell fails to present any evidence of motive, much less a cogent theory of pecuniary incentive. In particular, Calwell simply asserts, without any further support or explanation, that "Humphreys undisputedly had a financial motive to conceal its potential additional financial fees from its creditors." Pet. Br.

29. Not only is this pure speculation, but the suggested inference also elides the differences between Chapter 7 liquidation and Chapter 11 reorganization.

In a Chapter 7 liquidation, the debtor's assets are liquidated and paid out to creditors. This typically results in a zero-sum game in which every dollar reserved to the debtor is one less dollar available to creditors. In such circumstances one might presume the existence of a pecuniary motive to conceal assets. On the other hand, Chapter 11 reorganization generally allows for the continuity of business, which generates future cash flow, which is then used to make payments on a courtapproved payment plan. That payment plan is based on a multitude of factors, including what the debtor has on hand, what the debtor can reasonably afford, and what the debtor is expected to generate in the future. Given that payment plans are formulated based on a multitude of case-specific factors, Calwell does not (and cannot) say whether the Fee Sharing Agreement altered the trajectory of Humphrey's reorganization. And because it is impossible to say what impact, if any, the Fee Sharing Agreement played, pecuniary motive to conceal cannot be so freely assumed. At a minimum, Calwell was obliged to explain how Humphrey's actually stood to benefit from the supposed deceit. See Hetzel, 150 S.E. at 387 (providing that defendants bear the burden of proving affirmative defenses). But it failed to do so. And because Calwell failed to establish at least one of the requisite elements of its defense, Judge Reeder properly dispensed with Calwell's judicial estoppel defense.

C. This Court should decline Calwell's invitation to relitigate the sufficiency of federal bankruptcy disclosures.

Calwell's defense distills to a challenge against the *sufficiency* of Humphreys' disclosure rather than the *fact* of disclosure, requiring this Court to recreate the circumstances of that bankruptcy and divine the motivations previously at play. Recognizing the perils of that effort, the Circuit Court sensibly declined "to step into the shoes of the bankruptcy court and second guess the sufficiency of that disclosure." Appx. 323. And for good reason. If this Court decides to relitigate the sufficiency of Humphreys' federal court disclosure, as Calwell urges, then it must first navigate at least two threshold issues.

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